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He wheako, he tauira.  
An experience, an impression. 

Just as a tohunga whakairo (carver) creates a 
design in wood by leaving lasting impressions 
in its surface, a part of our role at Experience 
Wellington is to provide meaningful experiences 
that leave lasting impressions upon our visitors.

In a wharenui, whakairo (carvings) hold an 
important role communicating the story of an iwi 
and its tūpuna. In this report, each chapter reveals 
a new whakairo design that references the content 
within the section. Alongside articles and data, 

marks such as haehae (parallel lines), raperape and 
koru (spirals) and unaunahi (scales) imprint the 
pages to tell our stories of growth amongst change, 
connections across communities, and flourishing 
amongst uncertainty. 

Na te mata toki 
pounamu ka tu te 
tatai o te whakairo



Chair and  
Chief Executive
Foreword

Tēnā koutou,  

It is with pleasure that we present Experience 
Wellington’s 2020-2021 Annual Report. In this 
report we share with you some of the highlights 
from the 2020-2021 financial year, which featured 
an array of local content and creativity across 
our six experiences - Capital E, Space Place, City 
Gallery Wellington, Nairn Street Cottage, Wellington 
Museum and the Cable Car Museum. 

As new Chief Executive and Board Chair we would 
like to start by thanking our colleagues and wider 
staff of Experience Wellington for their support, 
commitment and mahi over the last year. We also 
thank Wellington City Council for the continued 
funding and support, along with our other partners 
(see page 53) whose contribution has enabled us to 
further strengthen and support the city we love.

Special thanks and acknowledgement to Jackie 
Lloyd who completed her term as Chair in December 
2020. Jackie was appointed to the Wellington 
Museums Trust Board in 2011 and became Board 
Chair in 2016. For just under a decade Jackie’s 
grounded stewardship provided the Board and 
management with sound governance advice 
and expertise. We are forever grateful for her 
remarkable contributions and dedication.  

We are proud of the huge efforts by our teams to 
ensure that our sites operated safely throughout 
the COVID pandemic alert level changes and 
that, despite financial challenges, we were able to 
deliver a rich and diverse array of local content 
to audiences. This has ranged from colourful 
Wellington characters sharing their stories at Nairn 
Street Cottage and Wellington Museum events, 
to projects like Ngā Tohunga Whakatere – The 
Navigators, at Space Place, which have brought 
the capital’s creative talent together to tell the 
important story of Aotearoa’s navigation history.  

We are also bringing international art of the highest 
calibre to Aotearoa with a once-in-a-lifetime 
exhibition of the stunning works of Swedish artist 
and mystic Hilma af Klint. The Secret Paintings 
at City Gallery Wellington will display af Klint’s 
mysterious works—hidden by the artist till after her 
death — which have been captivating audiences 
and breaking records for gallery attendance 
worldwide.  

To ensure we have a strategy that takes account 
of the COVID operating environment and our wider 
objectives, in October we refreshed our Strategic 
Plan with our staff (see pages 8-9). This included 
deepening our commitment to embracing te 
ao Māori, while also focusing on enhancing our 
experiences so that they spark emotion and 
curiosity, connect communities, people and ideas.  

We would like to thank the 
staff of Experience Wellington 
for their commitment and 
mahi, and Wellington City 
Council for their continued 
funding and support 

 Dr Sarah Rusholme 
and Jane Wrightson

Back to Contents
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Our new strategic plan has the following four pou, 
anchoring and driving our mahi: 

Wheako Pōneke 
Enriching lives through our experiences 

Ma te huruhuru te manu ka rere 
Embracing te ao Māori  

Mahitahi 
Working together as one team 

Tukua kia rere 
Experience Wellington flourishes

As always, this needs the support of many parties: 
Wellington City Council, the City Gallery Wellington 
Foundation, patrons, and sponsors, so we can all 
help bring great contemporary art experiences to 
Wellington.   

Our new structure has been developed to improve 
joined-up planning across all our sites and reduce 
duplication. This is vital as we begin a series of 
redevelopment projects that will help us deepen 
our connection with audiences and build on the 
capital’s creativity. In short, while we now need 
every dollar to count, we also need to remunerate 
our people better in a sector that is not well-
paid overall. As part of our realignment, we are 
very pleased that we have managed to move our 
experienced staff to market rate remuneration. 

In June we welcomed support from Wellington City 
Council to strengthen and redevelop Wellington 
Museum with the inclusion of this project in the 
Long Term Plan. Meanwhile we are working with 
the Council on Capital E returning to its original 
home - Te Ngākau Civic Square, as part of the Te 
Matapihi central library strengthening project. The 
redevelopment of Te Ngākau is also vital for the 
continuing success of City Gallery Wellington.  

We knew that if our strategy was to be successful, 
our organisational structure also needed to flex and 
adapt. We proposed a new organisational model 
which was further refined and developed through 
staff feedback. A flatter structure was implemented 
that better supports mahitahi, working as one team, 
by reorganising teams into functional groups, while 
retaining our sites and individual brands. Among 
the new roles in the Executive Leadership Team, 
is a Director of Māori Engagement to support our 
comprehensive approach to embracing te ao Māori.  

There was public debate around various implications 
for City Gallery Wellington which reinforced for us 
both the high regard in which the Gallery is held, 
and the importance of supporting it appropriately. 

As Board Chair and Chief Executive, we 
are excited about the future direction for 
Experience Wellington and our institutions that, 
collectively, are a vital part of Wellington’s cultural 
infrastructure. We are also incredibly proud of what 
our staff, and everyone that we have partnered 
with over the last year, have helped us to achieve. 
We are all working together with and for Wellington 
to create remarkable experiences that generate 
vitality, strengthening the city we love. 

 

Ngā mihi nui, 
 

Jane Wrightson 
Heamana 
Chair

Dr Sarah Rusholme 
Tumu Whakarae 
Chief Executive

Back to Contents
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ENRICHING LIVES MEANS...

Our experiences spark emotion, curiosity and  
reflection: connecting communities, people and ideas.

We are proud to be the beating heart that 
nourishes the city and its people.

EXPERIENCE WELLINGTON FLOURISHES MEANS...

Our business is strong, future proofed, and 
true to our purpose, vision, and values.

We resource what’s important for 
our organisation to thrive.

EMBRACING TE AO MĀORI MEANS...

We are committed to Te Tiriti o Waitangi and 
support tangata whenua as kaitiaki.

There is a Māori dimension to everything we do.

MAHITAHI MEANS...

Our success comes from our combined expertise 
and strengths.

We are one team who have each other’s backs.

Back to Contents

EMBRACING  
TE AO MĀORI

Ma te huruhuru te 
manu ka rere

Adorn the bird with 
feathers so that it may fly

ENRICHING 
LIVES

Wheako Pōneke
Experience Wellington

MAHITAHI
Ehara taku toa i 
te toa takitahi

My success is not mine 
alone, but of us all

EXPERIENCE 
WELLINGTON 
FLOURISHES

Tukua kia rere
Allow to fly

OUR PURPOSE 
Working together with and for Wellington 

to create remarkable experiences that generate 
vitality, strengthening the city we love

OUR VISION
Engaged, curious communities

Strategic Plan 2021-2024
Te Mahere Rautaki o Wheako Pōneke
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Embracing  
Te Ao Māori

Enriching Lives Mahitahi Experience Wellington  
Flourishes

WE ACHIEVE THIS THROUGH:

 - Making connections that keep 
people coming back.

 - Taking insightful data-driven 
decisions.

 - Engaging with new and diverse 
audiences and communities.

 - Being recognised as a leader 
in education and learning.

 - Taking risks and breaking new ground.

WHAT’S DIFFERENT:

 - A vibrant programme sits at the centre 
of our corporate planning cycle.

 - Our planning is informed by our 
insights, vision, purpose and values; 
and has an 18-month lead time.

 - We forge strong links with our 
audiences that encompass every 
aspect of their journey with us.

 - We work purposefully across 
the organisation to build 
relationships with new and diverse 
audiences and communities.

 - We develop a sector-leading learning 
offering for children and young people.

WE ACHIEVE THIS THROUGH:

 - Identifying and implementing better 
ways of working together as one team.

 - Providing ongoing opportunities for our 
people to achieve, develop and learn.

 - Building trust and confidence 
in each other to deliver.

 - Providing a healthy, safe, and high 
performing organisation for our people.

WHAT’S DIFFERENT:

 - Our staff engagement increases to 8.0/10.

 - We have a zero-harm culture.

 - The Executive Leadership Team work 
collectively to address issues raised 
via staff engagement surveys.

 - New values support our mahi and 
our behaviours bring these to life.

 - Our learning and development 
opportunities, internal communications 
and support systems are underpinned 
by our values and strategic plan.

WE ACHIEVE THIS THROUGH:

 - Setting smart, data-led 
targets that stretch us.

 - Continuously improving 
systems and processes.

 - All staff consider the financial and 
environmental impact of their decisions.

 - Understanding and celebrating our value.

 - Nurturing loyal stakeholders.

WHAT’S DIFFERENT:

 - Our business systems review is complete 
and delivers efficiencies for staff, 
stakeholders, and the bottom line.

 - Our use and procurement of resources 
is connected across the organisation.

 - Our commercial opportunities 
deliver maximum impact.

 - We retain our Carbon Zero accreditation and 
reduce our waste and power consumption.

 - Our stakeholders are engaged, and 
fundraising revenue grows.

WE ACHIEVE THIS THROUGH:

 - Developing and implementing a 
Māori engagement strategy.

 - Building meaningful relationships 
with mana whenua.

 - Implementing our Māori 
employment strategy.

 - Developing and reflecting an 
Experience Wellington tikanga 
in our practices and values.

WHAT’S DIFFERENT:

 - A growing number of our experiences 
enable our audiences and our people to 
see, feel and connect with Te Ao Māori.

 - Onsite and online Experience Wellington 
touchstones (website, signage, welcome) 
reflect our commitment to Te Ao Māori.

 - The number of staff who 
identify as Māori grows.

 - Te Reo, tikanga Māori and Te Tiriti 
o Waitangi training is in place.

Strategic Plan 2021-2024
Te Mahere Rautaki o Wheako Pōneke
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Engaging with our Visitors
Strategic Pou:  Enriching Lives

Cable Car Museum

Wellington Museum

114,236 

105,623 

405,941
Total Visitors

Website Visitors

43,438

26,512

9,796 Capital E

City Gallery Wellington

Museums Wellington 

79,746

2020-212019-20

133%  
of target  
achieved

296,420 

Target 
223,000

Social Media Followers

2020-212019-20

City Gallery Wellington
88,885 

Capital E
58,085 

Space Place
38,641

Nairn Street Cottage
471

232,013

75,420

155% of target achieved

106% of target achieved

We are proud of our achievements throughout this last year and the ongoing 
scale and growth of programmes and audiences reached. 

26,861

Learning Experiences

43,994

Total number of children and 
young people who visited for 
a learning experience across 

all of our sites

Total learning hours 
delivered, including 

education theatre shows
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Building our Cultural 
and Sustainable Capabilities
Strategic Pou:  Embracing Te Ao Māori  |  Mahitahi  |  Experience Wellington Flourishes

Back to Contents

Developing bilingual and te reo Māori 
education programmes for ākonga

Reducing our carbon emissions  
by upgrading lighting and  

HVAC systems

Welcoming a high numbers of  
local businesses to use our spaces

Collaborating with tikanga Māori and 
Pasifika experts on projects such as Ngā 

Tohunga Whakatere – The Navigators

Non-Council Revenue

$3,744,000

We are embracing te ao Māori, reducing our impact on the environment and delivering  
quality experiences for our local audiences.

Total Revenue

$14,277,000 

$3,744,000
Non-Council Revenue

$10,533,000
Council Revenue

Total Revenue

Total Non-Council Revenue

$540,000
Retail Sales

$499,000
Admissions

$318,000
Venue Hire 

$211,000
Sponsorship / Donations / Other

$2,176,000
Grants
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Auaha Poneke
Creative Capital
 
Creating remarkable experiences

1
Mittens Mania

The Lost Letter Office 

Seasons

State of the Art

13

14

15

16
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Opening just after the first national 
lockdown, Wellington Museum’s Mittens: 
Floofy & Famous exhibition provided a 
well-timed dose of the warm and fuzzies. 

Mittens, Wellington’s world-famous Turkish 
Angora, is known for his friendly antics 
around the city. Close to 70,000 follow 
The Wonderous Adventures of Mittens, 
the Facebook group set up in his honour 
and last year the fluffy fur-nomenon was 
awarded the Key to the City. 

Floofy and Famous drew almost 20,000 
loyal subjects and a claw-ful lot of media 
attention over its four-month run. One 
News, The AM Show, Newstalk, RNZ, and 
even CNN among others covered the 
royal’s story. 

The exhibition featured Mittens’  
pap-purr-ratzi shots, paw-some fan art  
and Mittens’ guide to keeping native 
birds safe. Mittens also endorsed the 
su-purr popular Pet Projects workshop, 
a community space with a range of free, 

Mittens Mania
Wellington Museum

creative activities for all ages. The exhibit 
displayed His Royal Floofiness’ very own 
collar, food bowl, and the “crystal glass” 
he liked to drink out of, which are now 
part of the Wellington Museum collection. 

Through Mittens merch, in-kind support 
from Photo Booth Fun, and exhibition 
TradeMe auctions, Wellington Museum 
was able to donate $8,978.34 and eight 
big boxes of cat food to SPCA Wellington 
Centre. His royal fur-lanthropist is  
so purr-oud! 

The community exhibition was made 
possible by our talented staff, thank you 
for your mahi. A special thanks to Mittens’ 
human Silvio Bruinsma and Visitor 
Services Manager Krystle Spademan 
who came up with the idea that brought 
20,000 smiles to the museum in a year 
that needed more. 
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Capital E was proud to debut The Lost Letter 
Office in 2020, a brand-new National Theatre for 
Children production created by Jen McArthur and 
Renata Hopkins. This colourful show used magic, 
movement, music, and clown performance to tell the 
story, making it easily accessible across a wide range 
of ages and cultures.  

Just before the national tour of The Lost Letter 
Office was set to begin, New Zealand went into 
COVID-19 lockdown and the first half of the 
tour was put on hold. With a lot of hard work from the 
Capital E team, the performances were rescheduled, 
contingency plans developed, new health and safety 
protocols adopted, and the tour was able to continue 
from October 2020 to March 2021.  

The Lost Letter Office reached an audience of more 
than 6000 people across 23 centres, supporting 
tamariki from around the country to access 
uplifting, enriching arts experiences despite the 
challenging COVID-19 environment.  

The Lost Letter Office
Capital E

We would like to thank Creative New Zealand for 
supporting the National Theatre for Children.
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In 2021 Capital E’s National Theatre for Children 
remounted their audience-favourite repertoire show 
Seasons. This beautifully crafted production is 
known for its memorable tunes and puppets, and has 
introduced generations of young tamariki to the magic 
of theatre since its first presentation in 2000. 

The 2021 iteration of Seasons celebrates all of 
Aotearoa’s official languages – te reo Māori, English, and 
New Zealand Sign Language - making it accessible to 
diverse audiences and creating memorable experiences 
for attendees. One teacher commented: 

“I was very impressed with the use of NZSL throughout 
the show. I took a girl who is deaf and it really made her 
day. I really wish there would be more shows that use 
NZSL in NZ. Thank you so much. Also the use of te reo 
was awesome too!” 

Seasons toured the North Island from April to July, 
reaching nearly 6,000 tamariki in 14 different centres. 
The national tour will continue through six more centres 
in the South Island from October. 

Seasons
Capital E

Capital E is honoured to tour Seasons in memory of Peter Wilson, 
writer of Seasons and Founding Director of Capital E National Theatre 
for Children, and Laughton Pattrick, composer of Seasons. 

We would like to thank Creative New Zealand for 
supporting the National Theatre for Children.
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The gallery is proud to 
create space for art in 
our community in a year 
of isolation and missed 
connections. 

Back to Contents

City Gallery Wellington feels incredibly 
fortunate to have brought world-renowned 
contemporary art to our capital city in a time 
of travel restrictions. During the last financial 
year, 88,885 people visited the gallery, this 
figure far exceeds the COVID-adjusted target 
for the year (56,200).

Visitors experienced provocative and emotive 
exhibitions including A Place Apart, Marianna 
Simnett: CREATURE and Every Artist with the 
pandemic making itself felt.  

State of the Art
City Gallery Wellington 

Taryn Simon, from Contraband 2010.
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Terminal 

The timing of City Gallery Wellington’s 
exhibition Terminal could not have been 
more poignant. Opening against the 
backdrop of COVID-19 in August 2020, the 
major exhibition’s themes of globalisation, 
border control and personal freedom reached 
new heights. 

Terminal featured art made about the 
airport, not for it. Laid out like an imaginary 
airport, visitors were invited to explore 
international artworks in zones dedicated 
to Arrivals, Screening, the Runway and 
Departure. Threads of romance, politics, 
environmental threats and personal freedom 
were explored in the exhibition and the 
gallery hosted it’s first virtual book club talk.

With New Zealand borders closed 44,797 
checked in at Terminal.  
 

Zac Langdon-Pole: Containing Multitudes 

Prior to the pandemic, Zac Langdon-Pole’s 
work was set to feature in a group exhibition 
at City Gallery Wellington. When the Berlin-
based Kiwi found himself stranded in 
Aotearoa, our curators developed Containing 
Multitudes, his largest solo show to date. 

Our curators, educators and community 
engagement teams continue to work together 
to deliver remarkable, creative experiences 
for our audience. City Gallery Wellington is 
thrilled to bring the phenomenal works of 
Swedish artist and mystic Hilma af Klint to 
Wellington in December. 

Simon Ingram Stonewall Alp Cliff 2019

State of the Art
City Gallery Wellington 
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Honoa nga Hapori
Connecting Communities
 
Working together to strengthen the city we love   

2
Pride of Place

Oracles

Soundscapes

Baby Rock & Rhyme

Engaging our Ākonga

Whānau-focussed Events

19

20

22

23

24

26



There’s a lot to love about celebrating Pride month. 
Here at Experience Wellington, we are proud to 
provide space for LGBTQIA+ arts. 

Category is: science fiction realness! Space Place 
celebrated Wellington Pride Festival with Sci-Fi 
Sundays: Pride Edition. Hosted by drag star Queen 
Olivia, three rainbow films were screened among the 
stars of our planetarium. 

The three-part series featured cult classic The Rocky 
Horror Picture Show, Argentinian film Brief Story from 
the Green Planet, and Riot Girls, a rock ‘n’ roll take on 
Lord of the Flies. 

Our fabulous host was thrilled to make queer art 
available at Space Place. “To me, Pride means visibility. 
I never see myself reflected in Hollywood films. Film 
festivals are a way to foster community and make 
connections.” 

During the Pride Festival, Wellington Museum hosted 
The Eternal Queers, a play produced and performed 
entirely by queer and BIPOC (black, indigenous, and 
other people of colour) creatives. Like City Gallery 
Wellington’s Aitu Ball, the sold-out performance 
highlights Wellington’s desire for queer storytelling. 
We are committed to uplifting the mana of Wellington’s 
LGBTQIA+ whānau across our cultural sites. 

Pride of Place 
Celebrating Pride Month

Queen Olivia Lucretia-Bourgeois Connie St Redfern III

Back to Contents
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Working across performance, photography, and video, 
City Gallery Wellington’s Oracles exhibition was a visual 
conversation between Pacific artist Pati Solomona 
Tyrell and Australian Aboriginal artist Christian 
Thompson. Their haunting works discuss cultural 
identity, colonial consequences, and gender. 

Tyrell is a founding member of FAFSWAG, a queer 
Pasifika arts collective of Tāmaki Makaurau. His 
collective appears as powerful, gender-fluid deities in 
Fāgogo and the fierce dance avatars of FAFSWAG: The 
Interactive Documentary. FAFSWAG was awarded the 
2020 Arts Foundation Laureate for highlighting queer 
and Pasifika communities in interdisciplinary arts.

Thompson’s photography features himself as an 
androgynous spirit framed with decorative flowers, 
rocks, crystals, and maps. The artist wears masks of 
colonial figures and looks back at us through cut-
out eyeholes. His works live between realms and ask 
viewers where identity comes from. 

City Gallery Wellington continues to challenge 
audiences, explore the in-between, and showcase 
indigenous talent.  

Oracles
City Gallery Wellington

Pati Solomona Tyrell activates Oracles at City Gallery Wellington
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Alongside Oracles, City Gallery hosted the Aitu Ball, 
Wellington’s first Vogue Ball. 

Ballroom and voguing culture dates to 1980s New 
York, where ‘Houses’, walk, pose, and perform, 
competition style in various categories. 

In partnership with Pātaka and Taki Rua Productions, 
two vogue workshops were held in the lead up to the 
big night. Beginners learned the five elements of vogue 
and the history of ballroom. 

The Aitu Ball featured five fierce categories inspired 
by fire, te kore (the void), plus-size ocean deities, 
the bizarre and wild creatures. The panel of judges 
included Khiyara Aitu, Khaos of The Order, Mayoress  
of Newtown, and Empress Coven-Carangi.  

On the night, the gallery pulsed with electric energy. 
Vogue virgins and veterans battled on the ballroom 
floor. Celebrating what it means to be queer, 
performers served in outrageous and captivating looks. 
The audience added to the spectacle with roaring 
support for the competitors. 

The Aitu Ball is the longest running vogue ball in 
Australasia. City Gallery Wellington is privileged to be 
part of its story and make the experience available to 
our queer community in Aotearoa. 

Aitu Ball
City Gallery Wellington
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Capital E’s PlayHQ installation, SoundScapes was 
realised as a part of Capital E’s Ideatorium process. 
It was designed by Wellington-based artist, Tony De 
Goldi, Auckland-based sound engineer, Simon Watts 
and the Capital E Public Programmes team.  

It was designed for tamariki to discover and explore 
sounds inspired by New Zealand nature. Soundscapes 
took tamariki on an interactive journey through tree 
trunk tunnels to unearth the trickling sounds of The 
Water Stream, The Squishy Forest Floor, and The 
Echos of Glow Worm Cove. 

Since opening in January 2021, the space has received 
outstanding feedback including, “This is the best 
installation we’ve seen from Capital E. We’re looking 
forward to coming back for more!” 

The space has seen over 7,700 visitations making it 
one of the most popular PlayHQ installations to date.   

Soundscapes
Capital E
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Partnering with Wellington City Libraries, Capital E’s 
Public Programmes team developed a collaborative 
weekly term-time programme, Baby Rock & Rhyme.

Designed as a way for parents and caregivers to 
interact with their pēpi through rhymes, finger-plays, 
and stories delivered by experienced presenters. It’s 
a great opportunity to have fun, socialise and spend 
quality ‘one-on-one’ time with their pēpi. 

This new programme has been essential in building a 
strategic partnership with Wellington City Libraries. 
It has seen over 120 participants, despite COVID-19 
cancellations, making it the most popular term time 
activity at Capital E to date.  

 

Baby Rock & Rhyme
Capital E

Back to Contents
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Our learning team have welcomed nearly 19,000 
students into Experience Wellington sites this year. 
It’s a pleasure to see so many engaged ākonga visit 
through their schools or places of learning and have a 
wonderful experience with us. 

Here’s some of our top education highlights from the 
20-21 year:  

Wellington Museum: 

On 12 May, the Museum’s educators hosted Māori 
and Pasifika college students for the day. They had 
a special behind-the-scenes tour of the museum 
and met with some of the team. The accessibility of 
heritage institutions for Māori and Pasifika, and young 
people in general, was a hot topic of conversation. 
Both the students and our team really enjoyed the day. 
We look forward to developing this event in the future! 

Space Place: 

The Space Place educators enjoy sparking kids’ 
curiosity and sending them down “rabbit holes 
of discovery”. They had a particularly rewarding 
experience when a special school visited the 
planetarium. Many of the tamariki were non-verbal 
or communicating via electronic speech pads. The 
planetarium was a big hit - full of the sounds of 

Engaging our Akonga
Learning Programmes

wonder. One child summed up their Space Place 
experience by communicating “that’s sick” on their 
electronic speech pad.

City Gallery Wellington: 

A highlight for the Gallery educators is watching 
students create their own art, inspired by what they 
see on the gallery’s walls. In a workshop for Containing 
Multitudes, students enjoyed exploring Zac Langdon-
Pole’s surprising juxtapositions. They created their own 
unlikely connections by placing together unrelated 
images and objects on light-sensitive paper, capturing 
their creations in a cyanotype blueprint image.

Capital E: 

The educators at Capital E welcomed back the 
Waiopehu College social studies course for the fifth 
year in a row. The students did a brilliant round of news 
segments for their NCEA assesments, and the team 
enjoyed their visits. We’re looking forward to welcoming 
next years class already.

 

Back to Contents
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Children and young people 
participated in learning experiences

26,861

Learning hours
43,994

Children attended  
education theatre shows

9,420

Learning Programmes Highlights
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In March, Capital E celebrated Children’s 
Day with a festival on Queens Wharf. 
Capital E’s Digital, LIVE, and Public 
Programmes teams came together to 
produce an incredibly varied and vibrant 
day of activities. 

Local drag king Hugo Grrrl emceed the day 
of performances for and by children. The 
line-up featured StarJam, Virtuoso Strings, 
Kozo Kaos, and highlights from our National 
Theatre for Children production Seasons. 
Off-stage, tamariki constructed Bloom 
sculptures, contributed to the Coolest Little 
Time Capsule, and experimented in OnTV. 
PlayHQ saw 716 visitors during the festival, 
marking the highest number of visits since 
moving to Queens Wharf. The festival was 
a huge success with approximately 3,000 
joining the Children’s Day celebration.    

Cable Car Museum ran a hugely popular 
Meccano expo over the Easter break in 
collaboration with Wellington Meccano Club. 
More than 3,100 Meccano enthusiasts visited 
Let’s Go Meccano and its wide range of 
whirling creations and kinetic sculptures.  

Every school holidays, City Gallery Wellington 
hosts Family Day, a day of free, whānau-
friendly activities inspired by current 
exhibitions. The first Family Day after the 
nation-wide lockdown was warmly welcomed 
in May with over 1,000 joining in the fun. 
Following the “Gallery Games” theme tamariki 
were invited to experiment with paint, win 
spot prizes, watch films from Square Eyes 
Film Foundation and pop giant bubbles in Te 
Ngākau Civic Square! 

Tamariki thrive with bespoke,  
whanau-focussed events
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Making engaging, creative 
experiences accessible to 
young people is at the heart 
of our diverse institutions. 

Children’s Day
3,000

Family Day*
1,060

Let’s Go Meccano
3,100

Whānau Event Attendance Highlights

*May 2021 Family Day, the largest of our four annual Family Day events  
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Space Place at Carter Observatory tells the stories of 
Aotearoa skies through remarkable, engaging experiences.  

A report by WellingtonNZ showed Space Place as 
the second most appealing ‘hero’ experience in the 
Wellington/Wairarapa region by travel motivation for their 
‘Family Fun’ audience. Our interactive exhibits and rotation 
of stellar events make Space Place the place to be. 

Astronomy on Tap remains a popular monthly event  
where guests are invited to ‘cheers to the stars’ and 
journey across the galaxy with bespoke star talks.  
Tamariki got creative in Space Place’s sell-out school 
holiday programmes with our stop motion animation  
and Matariki-inspired screenprinting. 

Space Place celebrated New Zealand Music Month 
with four spectacular nights of live performances. Local 
music heroes like Riki Gooch, Ruby Solly and Paddy 
Free performed under custom, spacey visuals of the 
planetarium. 

Space Place looks forward to premiering planetarium film 
Ngā Tohunga Whakatere – The Navigators later in 2021. 
Made possible by Lottery’s Tuia 250 grant, the strategic 
project explores our nation’s dual voyaging heritage. 
Created with the knowledge from mātauranga Māori and 
science experts the film enables visitors to see the world 
through the eyes of their ancestors. 

Space is the Place
Space Place 

New Zealand Music Month at Space Place, May 2021. Image credit:  Kahmur Studios

2929 Experience Wellington 20/21    |    Whakatūara Pōneke  Showcasing Pōneke 



Back to Contents

From Steven Adams’ size 18 basketball 
boots, to a fire-starter coffee roaster, 
the last financial year signalled a turning 
point in the collecting practices of 
Museums Wellington. After several years 
of planning, the collections team shifted 
into a programme of contemporary 
collecting focussed on the region’s 
cultural identity.   

Casting back to the gritty Cuba Street 
scene of the 1980s, Museums Wellington 
acquired a significant donation by Claire 
Croskery, founder of Anatomy Clothing 
Company (1986 – 1993) and a pair of 
pants belonging to Head Like a Hole lead 
singer Nigel ‘Booga’ Beazley. Another 
Cuba Street highlight is Havana’s first 
coffee roaster—the prototype Voltair No.1 
- notoriously combustible and responsible 
for almost burning down the Midnight 
Espresso building in 1990.  

We Collect Wellington  
Continuing with the homegrown ingenuity, 
we also acquired a Tuatara Brewery bottle 
mould, the first to feature their signature 
spine and scale texture.  

The underbelly of our capital city is 
captured in a battered hard drive donated 
by investigative journalist Nicky Hager. The 
hard drive contains files copied by police 
after a raid on Hager’s home in 2014 at the 
height of the Dirty Politics scandal. After the 
High Court ruled the raid to be illegal, the 
drive was given to Hager but not before it 
was struck 213 times in a bid to ‘delete’ the 
remaining files.   

In addition to these uniquely Wellington 
items, the Museum collections continue 
to inspire visitors with a range of displays 
that celebrate the region’s colourful past, 
including our maritime history.  
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The Museum collections 
continue to inspire visitors  
with a range of displays 
that celebrate the region’s  
colourful past, including  
our maritime history. 

Back to Contents
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What does a friendly elephant, an investigative 
journalist, and a Paralympian swimmer have in 
common? They are all part of Wellington’s vibrant 
history. 

Wellington Museum’s monthly Word of Mouth series 
began in February. Featuring a range of Wellington 
characters, each koha talk highlights the more curious 
corners of Pōneke’s past. 

Special guests included local sport icons, Dirty Politics 
author Nicky Hagar, sex worker’s right activist Dame 
Catherine Healy, theatre maker Nina Nawalowalo, and 
Liz Roberts whose husband cared for Wellington Zoo 
icon Kamala the elephant – just to name a few. 

Nairn Street Cottage shared stories from inspiring 
locals with three-part series, My Wellington. High tea 
with a twist, the catering for each talk reflected the 
hosts’ backgrounds. Sister Sue Cosgrove of the Sisters 
of Compassion, activist and healthcare professional 
Gertrude M. Agbozo, and entertainment manager 
Bessie Fepulea’i shared motivational stories  
of community mahi.  

The Rest is History

Bessie Fepulea’i presents on balancing ā’iga (family) and business with ease at Nairn Street Cottage’s high tea series My Wellington.
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Our capital city is rich 
with history. Making local 
heritage accessible is vital 
in uplifting the mana of 
Wellington communities 
and inspiring the next 
generation of storytellers.  

Gertrude M. Agbozo presents at Nairn Street Cottage high tea series My Wellington.

Back to Contents

Dame Margaret Sparrow, and Cr Sophie Handford present at ‘Women of Significance’,  
one of a series of talks at Wellington Museum’s, Word of Mouth.
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Nga Rautaki Whakamua
Strategic Project Update

Our agreed strategic projects have made  
great progress in the last financial year 

4



Strategic Goal:  To present high profile, 
large scale international contemporary art 
exhibitions at City Gallery Wellington

It was with immense excitement, that in March 
2021 we announced we would be presenting 
Hilma af Klint: The Secret Paintings. The news 
that we will be the only city, and sole venue in 
Aotearoa to show this astounding work was 
met with elation by the cultural sector, our 
audiences, and communities.  

The secret paintings of Swedish artist and 
mystic Hilma af Klint whose body of work has 
changed the course of art history is captivating 
audiences worldwide and changing how we 
view the course of art history. From December 
2021, City Gallery Wellington will proudly 
display more than 100 of af Klint’s awe-inspiring 
paintings up close. Unprecedented in scale and 
ambition, af Klint’s paintings feature remarkable 
colour combinations, monumental formats, and 
shapes that are both organic and otherworldly. 

Hilma af Klint: The Secret Paintings will 
be one of the most important exhibitions 
ever to be staged in Aotearoa. It will be 
presented with the cooperation of the Hilma 
af Klint Foundation, Stockholm, and in 
association with Heide Museum of Modern 
Art, Melbourne, and the Art Gallery of 
New South Wales, Sydney, and supported 
by Wellington City Council, City Gallery 
Wellington Foundation, WellingtonNZ, 
Middleware Group - Glueware, and Kowtow. 
The exhibition is indemnified by the New 
Zealand Government.

Back to Contents

Strategic Project Update

The Ten Largest, No. 7, Adulthood, Group IV, 1907, HAK No. 108. By courtesy of the of Hilma af Klint Foundation.
Photo: The Moderna Museet, Stockholm, Sweden.
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Strategic Goal: Producing ‘Ngā Tohunga 
Whakatere - The Navigators’ Planetarium Show 
for Space Place 

Ngā Tohunga Whakatere - The Navigators tells 
the story of early Pacific, Māori and European 
navigation through the eyes of a young girl, 
Moko.   

The 30-minute animated planetarium show 
takes viewers on an unforgettable adventure, 
exploring the value of indigenous knowledge 
and early cultural practices in the rich maritime 
heritage of Aotearoa. 

Ngā Tohunga Whakatere - The Navigators 
showcases Wellington’s creative talent 
including an original soundtrack and stunning 
animation designed for Space Place’s digital 
dome planetarium screen. It was made with the 
support of Tuia 250 Ministry for Culture and 
Heritage fund and opens in the later part of 
2021 at Space Place. 

Strategic Goal: To complete the development 
of Wellington Museum 

Our Business Case was presented to Wellington 
City Council for the strengthening and 
redevelopment of the Wellington Museum, and 
we were pleased to receive a commitment of 
$21m finalised in Council’s 2021-31 Long Term 
Plan. We have now handed over responsibility 
and project management of the building works 
to Council but will remain active and integral 
participants of the project governance group. 
The project centres on upgrading earthquake 
strengthening of the building and the visitor 
experience (exhibition area).  

Back to Contents

Strategic Project Update
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Strategic Goal: Identifying a long-term home 
for Capital E Nōku Te Ao 

For 15 years the home of Capital E was Te 
Ngākau Civic Square, the heart of the city, 
until November 2012 when the building was 
discovered to be earthquake prone, and  
Capital E was forced to close. While moving 
to Queens Wharf has provided a new home 
for Capital E close to Wellington Museum, the 
space is limited, and therefore, so are many of 
Capital E’s activities.

This year we have continued our journey with 
Wellington City Council’s Future Library team, 
exploring how Capital E might return to a 
revitalised Te Ngākau within a reimagined Te 
Matapihi Central Library.  

Capital E and Te Matapihi share clear alignment 
in their purpose and offerings. Our kaupapa 
has always been to create extraordinary 
experiences for, with, by, and between children 
and young people. Today’s libraries are spaces 
where the community can connect and engage 

Strategic Goal: To upgrade our IT equipment 
and systems 

to discover, innovate, create and showcase 
ideas, which has strong synergies with the 
mahi of Capital E.  

Throughout the year we started to explore 
these synergies – supporting the library 
redevelopment team in workshops as the 
foundational concept for Te Matapihi was 
developed. We were proud to underline how 
Capital E could augment this extraordinary 
new asset for the city. And we were delighted 
when Council announced the investment 
required to bring this ambitious project to 
life in the 2021-31 Long Term Plan. The future 
holds a formal collaborative agreement 
between Council and Experience Wellington 
with more sessions bringing our teams 
together as we shape what’s possible as we 
envision the future Capital E, activating a 
thriving Te Ngākau for our youngest citizens.  

As we have over the last three years, we continue 
to update our business systems with the latest 
applications that will enable efficient integration 
across all our platforms, including our CRM 
database (Salesforce). To this end we have 
introduced a new retail system (Vend) across all 
our retail outlets together with a new integrated 
eftpos system that directly communicates with 
our cloud-based accounting system. 

The focus for the year ahead is scoping and 
introducing a new cloud-based ticketing 
and venue hire system. Acknowledging the 
complexity of the different systems that function 
across the business and the ongoing importance 
of keeping our systems operating and relevant, 
we have increased our capability to oversee the 
ongoing review and implementation of these 
vital business systems. Embracing the newest 
technology trends ensures our charity stays 
connected, creative and productive. 

Back to Contents
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Trustees 
Date of appointment 
to Board 

Number of Board meetings 
attended during 2020-21 

Jackie Lloyd  
(Chair until 31/12/20) 

1 July 2011 5 (tenure ended December 2020)

Jane Wrightson  
(Chair as of 01/01/21)

1 January 2016 9

Diane Calvert 
(Councillor)

1 November 2016 7

Rachel Farrant 1 July 2013 6

Peter Jackson 1 June 2019 9

Peter Johnston 1 June 2019 9

Wellington Museums Trust Board are appointed by Council and 
are standard-bearers for Experience Wellington’s vision. The Board 
bring a mix of skills, tenure, experience, and diversity and are 
responsible for setting the strategic direction of the organisation 
and approving the Statement of Intent and the Strategic Plan. The 
Board monitors organisational performance, the organisation’s 
ongoing viability, and the maintenance of its competitiveness. It 
delegates the day-to-day operation of Experience Wellington to 
the Chief Executive, who reports to the Board.  

L-R: Wellington Museums Trust Board Jane Wrightson, Diane Calvert, Peter Jackson, Rachel Farrant, Peter Johnston
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He Ripoata Kawanatanga
Governance

Experience Wellington is governed by a Trust Deed between 
Wellington City Council and Wellington Museums Trust Incorporated. 
The Deed was first executed on 18 October 1995 and updated on  
15 August 2007.  

Te Mana Whakahaere Governance Trustees
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The Board meet no fewer than nine times 
per year and operate three committees 
which review relevant matters prior to 
consideration by the full Board. These are 
the Audit and Risk (A&R) Committee; the 
People, Performance, and Safety (PPS) 
Committee; and the Chief Executive 
Performance and Remuneration (CEP&R) 
Committee. In addition, the Board will 
convene ad hoc working groups to consider 
specific issues. Guidance in specialist areas 
is also provided as appropriate.  

As part of its health and safety due 
diligence the Board undertake regular 
health and safety observations, and 
annually dedicate one Board meeting to a 
health and safety site review. The Board 

also monitor health and safety through the 
PPS Committee and via regular Board reports 
from management. The Board is committed 
to the highest standard of corporate 
governance, overseeing reporting, and 
meeting best practice standards. The Board 
undertake an annual self-review, including a 
review of individual Trustees and the Chair’s 
performance. 

Te Komiti Whakahaere Board Committees:  

Audit and Risk (A&R) Committee assists 
the Board in carrying out its duties in regard 
to financial reporting, risk management and 
legislative compliance.  

People, Performance and Safety (PPS) 
Committee provides guidance and support 
to the Chief Executive in a Human Resources 
context and assists the Board to meet its 
due diligence responsibilities regarding 
Experience Wellington’s compliance with 
Health and Safety legislation. 

Chief Executive Performance and 
Remuneration (CEP&R) Committee advises 
the Chair in connection with the performance 
and remuneration of the Chief Executive.  

Former Board Chair, Jackie Lloyd

The Board bring a mix of 
skills, tenure, experience, 
and diversity and are 
responsible for setting  
the strategic direction of 
the organisation.

At the end of 2020 the Board 
farewelled Jackie Lloyd 
after almost a decade of 
service, with Jane Wrightson 
appointed to the role of Board 
Chair in January 2021. 

Back to Contents
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It has been a challenging year for our staff 
as we respond to changing alert levels, 
refocusing our content for local audiences 
and adapting to our new teams and ways 
of working following our structure change. 
Our people are a passionate, committed, 
and resilient group, and are of course, our 
greatest asset. We thank them for their 
tremendous efforts and for working together 
to keep our sites operational amid all this 
change.  

When Dr Sarah Rusholme began as Chief 
Executive in June 2020, one of her key 
objectives was to ensure staff felt a stronger 
connection to our Strategic Plan and were 
able to work together more easily across 
our sites. She recognised this connection 
was essential for staff to enable joined-up 
planning, reduce duplication and better 
harness the wide-ranging expertise. After a 
series of workshops with staff, our Strategic 
Plan was refreshed and now provides greater 
clarity and staff engagement to our vision, 
purpose, and values.  

L-R: Experience Wellington Executive Leadership Team James Unwin, Justine McLisky, Carolyn Mettrick, Judith Cooke, Sarah Rusholme, Louise Saviker, Elizabeth Caldwell
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The year concluded with the roll-out and 
implementation of our organisation-wide 
restructure. The new design is flatter 
and aligns our people resources to the 
new strategy, while reducing managerial 
positions from 26 to 15. The new Executive 
Leadership Team (ELT) are working hard 
to connect with their new teams and build 
on a positive team culture.   

Two new roles with a Māori focus were 
established as part of the organisational 
restructure including a Director Māori 
Engagement, Te Tūhono Reo (part of ELT) 
and Curator (Toi Māori).  

These roles join the two existing roles 
of Kaiako Māori and Curator Māori 
(Taonga). At year-end Experience 
Wellington employs 60 full time and 56 
part time people (compared to 62 and 57 
respectively last year). Our average tenure 
remains steady on 3.8 years, tracking 
slightly up on last year. 

Developing the full potential of our 
employees is integral to our success and 
we continue to invest in their ongoing 
learning. A group attended a wānanga at 
Whakarongotai Marae in April. As well as 

giving staff a chance to experience a noho 
marae, the wānanga explored elements of 
tikanga Māori and the Treaty of Waitangi 
incorporating a museum and heritage 
perspective.  
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We are pleased that 55% of current 
employees have now completed te reo 
Māori training and we are including te reo 
classes as part of induction for all new 
employees to build capability across  
our staff.  

Other training included a targeted initiative 
for our organisation wide committee 
chairs. Internally we offered privacy 
training to a group of staff supporting us 
to identify improvements required with the 
introduction of new legislation.  

We have retained and supported our 
workforce throughout the COVID-19 
pandemic and are grateful to our staff who 
have supported our operations throughout 
changing alert levels. Where possible, our 
employees have been supported to work 
remotely and teams have developed new 
ways of working together across our sites.  

The health, safety and wellbeing of our 
staff and visitors is an absolute priority. 
We have put in place robust planning 

to support alert level changes at our 
experiences, along with COVID tracer 
sign-in stations, hand sanitiser stations, 
and increased deep cleaning. 
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Staff Health and Safety Committee  
Leads the Way

Our Health and Safety Committee work 
together across all sites to manage and 
mitigate any potential harm-related issues, 
review health and safety best practice and 
legislation, and ensure we provide a safe 
space for our staff and visitors. This year 
the committee reviewed and updated our 
tsunami evacuation maps and procedures 
at each site, including carrying out 
practice evacuations.  

Reports showed a higher-than-normal 
level of minor incidents this year - many 
were contributed to external social issues, 
along with a mix of near misses, accidents 
and slips, trips and falls.  

One serious harm incident was reported 
involving a staff member working at an 
external site. Staff are always encouraged 
and supported by their managers to raise 
any health, safety and wellbeing concerns. 

Alongside our proactive Health and Safety 
Committee, a group dedicated to support 
the wellness and mental health of our staff 
was established. The Wellbeing Committee 
carries out general ‘check-ins’ with staff to 
help build personal wellness. This included 
team-based sessions where staff came 
together to drive their own wellbeing in a 
model that is focused on personal agency 
and self-management.  

As we look to the next financial year, we 
look forward to further building on our 
developments in 2020-2021.  A focus for 
the Chief Executive will be building staff 
engagement and workplace culture to 
support our people to deliver to their best 
mahi as we work to create remarkable 
experiences for Wellingtonians.  

Our People
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Te Rōpū Mahi Tiriti champion the 
embodiment of te ao Māori across all 
Experience Wellington sites. Led by 
Heamana (Chair) Helen Lloyd, the work 
group strengthens our kete of knowledge 
by developing meaningful resources and 
experiences for staff. 

With the support of board member Peter 
Jackson, Te Rōpū representatives created 
Experience Wellington’s own waiata, 
‘Wheako Pōneke.’ Kupu for the lyrics were 
collected from site-wide workshops led 
by the work group. The waiata speaks to 
the amazing efforts of our diverse charity. 

In addition to our waiata, Te Rōpū 
produced ‘Te Kete Waiata,’ a pukapuka 
of karakia and other waiata significant 
to Experience Wellington. Created with 
aroha, the beautiful resource is regularly 
seen at staff hui, waiata practice, and 
special events. 

 

Te Ropu Mahi Tiriti 

Te Rōpū Mahi Tiriti encourage staff 
participation in significant cultural events. 
Through ātaahua internal comms, the 
group highlighted all Matariki events held 
across sites and Wellington City Council. 
Te Rōpū celebrated Te Wiki o Te Reo Māori 
by sharing resources like lock screens with 
useful kupu, te reo Māori zines, and tips on 
typing tohutō (macrons). 

Te Rōpū support our attendance at Victoria 
University’s annual wānanga at Hongoeka 
Marae. Eleven Experience Wellington staff, 
including Chief Executive Sarah Rushome, 
attended in April. Staff explored many 
aspects of te ao Māori, mātauranga Māori, 
tikanga Māori and Māori cultural practices 
specific to museums, and taonga. 

Te Rōpū Mahi Tiriti 
strengthens our kete of 
knowledge by developing 
meaningful resources and 
experiences for staff. 
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Experience Wellington’s Accessibility 
and Inclusion Committee is committed to 
making our sites welcoming and safe for all. 

The committee secured funding from 
the National Foundation for the Deaf and 
Wellington Community Trust to update 
Experience Wellington’s New Zealand Sign 
Language (NZSL) videos. Working with 
local deaf filmmaker Jared Flitcroft, the 
NZSL content will welcome visitors onsite 
and inform users online. 

The committee also supported Wellington 
Museum’s introduction of a monthly low-
sensory hour. In association with Autism 
New Zealand, Wellington Museum reduces 
light and sound during this time for the 
neuro-diverse community to comfortably 
explore local taonga. 

Accessibility  
and Inclusion Committee

Committee representatives also began the 
substantial mahi of a site-wide accessibility 
audit, beginning with Nairn Street Cottage. 
The comprehensive project will reveal 
what needs attention, and opportunities to 
improve access to our experiences. 

The workgroup recently introduced safe-
space policies to Experience Wellington. 
Tailored to our unique experiences, the 
roll-out of the statement and associated 
processes supports staff and visitors in the 
case of inappropriate or harmful behaviours. 

The workgroup continues to champion 
accessibility and embed thoughtful 
processes into our everyday mahi. We firmly 
believe that our whole community benefits 
when everyone can access our extraordinary 
experiences. 

We firmly believe that 
our whole community 
benefits when everyone can 
access our extraordinary 
experiences. 
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It is important we promote and demonstrate 
environmental best practice at Experience 
Wellington, and throughout the year we held several 
environmentally focused events at our sites.  

Partnering with Sustainable Coastlines, Wellington 
Museum’s annual Great Big Waterfront Clean Up 
was a hugely successful event. This family friendly 
event saw approximately 150 keen Wellingtonians 
donning gloves and collecting over 1,300 litres of 
rubbish from in and around our waterfront – thank 
you to all who volunteered their time that day! 

The Rubbish Trip hosted a number of free 
lunchtime workshops in our spaces, including The 
Bare Essentials Workshop which saw participants 
learning how to make DIY toiletries and cleaning 
products, and Make Your Own Mug Hugger where 
glass jars were upcycled into reusable coffee 
mugs. The Nairn Street Preservation Society also 
put on a Worm Farm Workshop to demonstrate 
how to setup and care for worm farms and reduce 
the amount of food waste sent to landfill. 

Working alongside Wellington City Council, we 
are upgrading the lighting and heating systems in 
our buildings, reducing our carbon emissions, and 
giving us better controls over energy usage. We 
are also reducing our contribution to landfill and 

Reducing our Impact  
on the Environment 

looking into ways we can further repurpose or 
upcycle our materials after the conclusion of our 
exhibitions and events.  

In July 2020, our Environmental Sustainability 
Committee challenged staff to take on the global 
‘Plastic Free July’ movement. A Plastic Free 
July fair encouraged staff to bring in and swap 
pre-loved clothing. There was also a seed and 
plant swap and recycling stations for batteries, 
pens and plastic lids. The event also included 
waste reduction tips, educational material, and 
displays of simple household swaps.  Smaller 
eco events were held for staff throughout 
the year including e-bike trials as part of the 
Aotearoa Bike Challenge, a sunflower growing 
competition to promote the wellbeing benefits 
of our environment, and at Nairn Street Cottage, 
which has two active beehives, a morning tea 
discussing the important roles bees play in our 
environment. 

We encourage all staff to consider the impact 
they have on our planet, both at home and at 
work, and will continue to work together to make 
positive changes in this space, and in promoting 
environmentally friendly events to our visitors. 

... encouraging staff to use 
environmental best practice, 
and to consider the impact 
they have on our planet, 
both at home and at work. 

Environmental Sustainability Committee Co-Chairs Jo Arenhold and Hana Makin
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Trustee Peter Jackson with award-recipient Flavia Wilson

Caption caption caption.
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Nga Paraihe Kaimahi
Experience Wellington Staff Awards 2020 

  
 At Experience Wellington, we celebrate our successes.  
We are proud to recognise our staff who made 
remarkable things happens amidst the extraordinary 
challenges of 2020. 

City Gallery Wellington and Nikau Café hosted our 
2020 staff awards celebration. In spirit of the “Colour 
the Gallery” theme, staff lit up the space dressed in 
bold, bright colours. 

Structured by the strategic pou in our refreshed 
Strategy Plan, the awards acknowledged staff, teams, 
and projects reflecting our core values. 
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Trustee Rachel Farrant, with award-recipients Beth Taylor, Abby Rainbow, and Fiona Tucker
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Enriching Lives 
We recognise staff and teams committed to 
connecting communities, people and ideas. 

Award Recipients 

Krystle Spademan, David Waller,  
Matt Henry, Tom Etuata, Ian Wards,  
Amber Callanan, Violette Squire,  
Rachel Ingram, the Visitor Services Team, 
Jilly Lind-Thomas, Hannah Eaton,  
Lizzie Murray, Flavia Wilson, Tessa Baty  
For the creation, development, and delivery of 
Mittens: Floofy and Famous and the  
Pet Projects programme.

Megan Dunn, Robert Leonard,  
Erika McClintock, Caleb Gordon,  
Rachel Fox, Lauren Ward, Lara Signal,  
Kate van Arts, the Visitor Services Team  
For the delivery of the spectacular Aitu Ball, 
voguing workshops, and Oracles exhibition. 

Karen Carey, Pippa Drakeford, Halo Collins, 
Natalie Crane, Elena Torres  
For innovation during lockdown - moving 
daily term-time activities online along with 
developing creativity resources and activities 
for parents and teachers. 

Graham Frost & Elisa Brusset  
For advocating for blind and low vision visitors 
by developing resources, training as audio 
description guides, and running workshops. 

Nga Paraihe Kaimahi
Experience Wellington Staff Awards 2020 
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Mahitahi
We are stronger together. We recognise 
those who work hard to share their kete of 
knowledge across teams.

Award Recipients 

Business Systems Review team lead  
Erika McClintock  
For continued mahi to improve our complex 
business systems and processes across 
Experience Wellington.

Wellbeing, Health and Safety Committee: 
Simon Jones, Alex Kinzett, Amber Baldock, 
Daniel Campbell-MacDonald, Fiona Tucker, 
Ian Wards, Lizzie Murray, Natalie Crane, 
Eleanor Carr, Joe Newman, Abby Rainbow, 
Caleb Gordon, Lizzie Murray, Jo Arenhold, 
Marta Ordejón-Mateos, Annie Mercer  
For ongoing, supportive and exemplary work  
in Wellbeing, Health and Safety. 

Experience Wellington Flourishes
Recipients help our charity thrive and stay 
true to our kaupapa. 

Award Recipients 

Amber Callanan, Philip Claassen  
& Jilly Lind-Thomas  
For innovation and revenue generation 
developing sell out merchandise to 
accompanying Mittens: Floofy and Famous. 

Catherine Laranang  
For applying for and establishing Experience 
Wellington’s Google Ads Grant resulting in 
increased awareness and website visitation. 

Marianne Taylor, Beth Taylor, Abby Rainbow, 
Fiona Tucker, Joe Newman  
For regrouping and collaborating to ensure  
The Lost Letter Office tour was able to 
continue after lockdown. 

Embracing Te Ao Maori 
Acknowledging tangata whenua as kaitiaki 
and Te Tiriti o Waitangi is crucial to 
Experience Wellington. Recipients embed 
te ao Māori in their mahi and the audience 
experience.

Award recipients 

Pippa Drakeford, Ian Wards  
& Lawrence Wharerau  
For collaboration and the development of 
Wheako Pōneke, our own waiata.

Flavia Wilson  
For her commitment to te ao Māori,  
the naming and redesign of Te Kete Waiata, 
and the development of resources to support  
Te Wiki o te Reo Māori.
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Chief Executive Sarah Rusholme and award recipient Lizzie Murray

Nga Paraihe Kaimahi
Experience Wellington Staff Awards 2020 
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Living our Values 
Four recipients modelled all Experience 
Wellington values. 

Award Recipients 

Lizzie Murray  
For constantly going beyond her role to help 
others and contributing to the success of the 
organisation through her writing skills. 

Simon Jones  
For advocating and modelling Wellbeing,  
Health and Safety across Experience Wellington. 

Claire Hopkins  
For advocating, developing and testing 
resources for visitors on the autism spectrum, 
and for creating magical experiences for 
teachers and visitors. 

Caleb Gordon  
For leadership, a passion for accessibility 
& inclusion and caring and considerate 
relationships with team members and visitors. 
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Chair Jane Wrightson, with award-recipients: Flavia Wilson, Jilly Lind-Thomas, Violette Squire, Judith Frost-Evans,  
Lizzie Murray, Tom Etuata, Emily Hamilton, Kate Gallaher, Emma Keel, Emma Clements, Tessa Baty, Wiremu Chrisp

Chair Jane Wrightson with award-recipients: Kate van Arts, Robbie Motion, Lauren Ward, Bonnie Wroe, Siân Stephens, Caleb Gordon, Georgia Pope, Josie Connor,  
Erika McClintock, Holly Walker, Matthew Savage, Gina Matchitt, Mica Mick

Back to Contents
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Nga Pou Whirinaki
Partners & Supporters
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We rely on the generous support of individuals, 
organisations, trusts and foundations to deliver our 
programmes and events, expand our collections, and 
provide enriching experiences for our audiences. This 
support ensures our doors are open to all – enabling 
inclusion, learning, and connectedness that generates 
vitality and enhances the health and wellbeing of our 
communities. 

Architecture Plus   

Australia Council for the Arts  

Carter Observatory Trust   

Community Trust South  

Eastern & Central Community Trust  

EightyOne  

Foundation North  

Interislander  

Maritime Archaeological Association of NZ  

Maritime Friends of Wellington  

Ministry for Culture & Heritage Manatū Taonga   

MJF Lighting  

National Services Te Paerangi  

Otago Community Trust  

Qin Foundation  

Rātā Foundation  

Seresin Estate  

The Lion Foundation    

The NFD Trust  

The Stout Trust   

Thomas George Macarthy Trust  

Tuatara Breweries  

Webb’s   

Wellington Astronomical Society   

Wellington Community Trust  

Wellington Historical & Early Settlers’ Association  

WellingtonNZ  

Wright Family Foundation  

With our thanks 

Many thanks to our principal funder,  
Wellington City Council.  

And our major supporters,  
Creative New Zealand, Ministry of Education,  
and City Gallery Wellington Foundation.
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Performance against 2020-21 Statement of Intent Targets  
Non-Financial Performance Measures

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Not Achieved:  
Total 535,421 visits.

Total visits of 261,700  
are achieved. 

Achieved:  
Total visits: 405,941

City Gallery Wellington 111,365 56,200 88,885

Wellington Museum 100,165 56,000 105,623

Capital E 86,821 45,500 58,085

Cable Car Museum 192,915 79,000 114,236

Space Place 43,449 24,000 38,641

Nairn Street Cottage 706 1,000 471

Physical Visitation

Virtual Visitation Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Achieved:  
Total 232,013 unique visits.

Total unique visits of 223,000 
to institutional web/mobile 

sites are achieved.

Achieved: 
Total 296,420 unique visits.

City Gallery Wellington 86,579 78,000 104,172

Museums Wellington 110,444 110,000 135,949

Capital E 34,990 35,000 56,299

Social Media Profile Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Achieved: Snapshot of 74,871 
Facebook friends, Instagram 

and Twitter followers

Snapshot target of 75,300 
Facebook friends, Instagram 

and Twitter followers

Achieved: Snapshot of 79,160  
Facebook friends, Instagram and 

Twitter followers

City Gallery Wellington 41,078 41,500 43,438

Museums Wellington 14,387 13,500 15,233

Capital E 9,123 9,500 9,796

Space Place 10,283 10,800 10,693
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Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Achieved: 42,126 children & 
young people visited for a 

learning experience.

21,000 children & young 
people visited for a learning 

experience.

Achieved: 26,861 children &  
young people visited for a  

learning experience.

City Gallery Wellington 2,410 4,500 2,907

Museums Wellington3 3,136 3,500 3,269

Capital E 31,995 10,000 17,763

Space Place 4,585 3,000 2,922

Quality of Visit1

2 The number of students as 
part of a booked group visiting 
us for learning experiences. 
The delivery of LEOTC is 
part-funded by the Ministry of 
Education.
3 Museums Wellington includes 
Wellington Museum, Cable 
Car Museum, and Nairn 
Street Cottage. Space Place is 
reported separately.

Children & Young 
People Visiting for a 
Learning Experience2

1 Visitors are asked to complete 
a short survey when exiting our 
sites which helps us to assess 
ease of access, friendliness of 
staff, level of comfort and overall 
satisfaction of their visit. 2020-
21 targets were exceeded for 
Capital E, Cable Car Museum, 
and Nairn Street Cottage, with 
all sites achieving average 
scores above 80%. 

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

City Gallery Wellington 89% 95% 88%

Wellington Museum 91% 95% 91%

Capital E 75% 90% 74%

Cable Car Museum 93% 95% 89%

Space Place 89% 92% 87%

Nairn Street Cottage 50% 54% 47%

City Residents’ 
Awareness (Annual 
Survey)4

Performance against 2020-21 Statement of Intent Targets  
Non-Financial Performance Measures

4 Council annually conducts 
a City Residents’ Awareness 
Survey, of which all Experience 
Wellington sites are included. 
Our targets were not achieved 
for the 2020-21 year, however, 
are on par with the previous 
year, with over 85% awareness 
for City Gallery, Wellington 
Museum, Cable Car Museum, 
and Space Place. We strive 
to continuously increase 
awareness of all our sites.

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measures 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

City Gallery Wellington 85%   88% 85%

Wellington Museum 92% 90% 89%

Capital E 93% 90% 94%

Cable Car Museum 78% 80% 80%

Space Place 91% 90% 89%

Nairn Street Cottage 98% 90% 97%
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Performance against 2020-21 Statement of Intent Targets  
Financial Performance Measures

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Not Achieved: $932,000 of 
non-Council revenue.

$1,921,000 of non-Council 
revenue is achieved.

Achieved: $2,378,000  
of non-Council revenue.

City Gallery Wellington $165,000 395,000 345,000

Museums Wellington6 $152,000 100,000 139,000

Capital E $534,000 942,000 1,359,000

Space Place $81,000 485,000 503,000

Trust Office 0 0 32,000

Fundraising

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Achieved: $3.38 was the  
average spend per visitor.

The average spend  
per visitor is $1.93.

Achieved: $3.36 was the  
average spend per visitor.

City Gallery Wellington $2.11 1.76 2.32

Museums Wellington7 $2.75 1.06 2.32

Capital E $3.42 2.79 2.54

Space Place $10.79 5.67 12.84

5-7 Museums Wellington 
includes Wellington Museum, 
Cable Car Museum, and Nairn 
Street Cottage. It excludes 
Space Place which is reported 
separately.

Spend per visitor

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Achieved: $2,741,000  
of non-Council revenue.

$536,000 of non-Council 
revenue is achieved.

Achieved: $1,366,000  
of non-Council revenue.

City Gallery Wellington $235,000 99,000 206,000

Museums Wellington5 $808,000 144,000 511,000

Capital E $608,000 127,000 148,000

Space Place $570,000 136,000 496,000

Sub Total $2,597,000 506,000 1,361,000

Sub-letting, Interest & Other $228,000 30,000 5,000

Non-Council  
Revenue
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Performance against 2020-21 Statement of Intent Targets  
Financial Performance Measures

8, 10 Museums Wellington 
includes Wellington Museum, 
Cable Car Museum, and Nairn 
Street Cottage. It excludes 
Space Place which is reported 
separately.
9 Council’s estimated 
ownership costs are 
supplied by Council. These 
include costs such as 
insurance, maintenance, and 
depreciation.

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Not Achieved: $14.55 was the 
average subsidy per visit.

The average subsidy 
per visit is $29.47.

Achieved: $21.32 was the 
average subsidy per visit.

City Gallery Wellington $22.07 43.34 27.43

Museums Wellington8 $7.25 15.52 9.59

Capital E $21.74 39.26 30.78

Space Place $12.63 23.56 13.82

Operating Subsidy  
per Visit

Outputs Status at 30 June 2020 Measure 2020-21 Status at June 30 2021

Not Achieved: $20.00 was the 
average subsidy per visit.

The average subsidy  
per visit is $31.39

Achieved: $28.26 was the  
average subsidy per visit.

City Gallery Wellington $24.20 46.87 34.65

Museums Wellington10 $10.49 16.79 15.38

Capital E $23.25 42.46 38.22

Space Place $20.60 23.56 26.57

Full Subsidy per 
Visit, inclusive 
of Council’s 
Ownership Costs9
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To the readers of Wellington Museums Trust 
Incorporated’s Financial Statements and 
Performance Information for the year ended 
30 June 2021

The Auditor-General is the auditor Wellington 
Museums Trust Incorporated (the Trust). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Sonia Isaac 
using the staff and resources of KPMG, to carry 
out the audit of the financial statements and 
performance information of the Trust on his 
behalf.

Opinion

We have audited:

 — the financial statements of the Trust on 
pages 61 to 78, that comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2020, 
the statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year ended on that date and the notes 
to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information; and

 — the performance information of the Trust 
on pages 54 to 57.

In our opinion:

 — the financial statements of the Trust on 
pages 61 to 78:

• present fairly, in all material respects:

 - its financial position as at 30 June 
2021; and

 - its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended; and

• comply with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand in 
accordance with Public Benefit Entity 
Accounting Standards applying the 
reduced disclosure regime; and

 — the performance information of the Trust on 
pages 54 to 57 presents fairly, in all material 
respects, the Trust’s actual performance 
compared against the performance targets 
and other measures by which performance 
was judged in relation to the Trust’s 
objectives for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Our audit was completed on 13 August 
2021. This is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below. 
In addition, we outline the responsibilities of 
the Board of Trustees and our responsibilities 
relating to the financial statements and the 
performance information, and we explain our 
independence.

Basis for our opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, 
which incorporate the Professional and 
Ethical Standards and the International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued 
by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the 
Responsibilities of the auditor section of our 
report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in 
accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board of Trustees 
for the financial statements and the 
performance information

The Board of Trustees are responsible on 
behalf of the Trust for preparing financial 
statements that are fairly presented and that 
comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. The Board of 
Trustees also responsible for preparing the 
performance information for the Trust.

The Board of Trustees responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable them to prepare financial statements 
and performance information that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements and 
the performance information, the Board of 
Trustees are responsible on behalf of the Trust 
for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. The Board of Trustees 
also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting, unless the 
Board of Trustees intend to liquidate the Trust 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Trustee’s responsibilities arise 

from the Local Government Act 2002.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of 
the financial statements and the performance 
information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements and the performance information, 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
carried out in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements are differences or omissions 
of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from 
fraud or error. Misstatements are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the decisions of readers, taken on the basis of 
these financial statements and the performance 
information.

For the budget information reported in the 
financial statements and the performance 
information, our procedures were limited to 
checking that the information agreed to the 
Trust’s statement of intent.

We did not evaluate the security and controls 
over the electronic publication of the financial 
statements and the performance information.

As part of an audit in accordance with the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
Also:

 — We identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements 
and the performance information, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

 — We obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal 
control.
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 — We evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board 
of Trustees.

 — We evaluate the appropriateness of the 
reported performance information within 
the Trust’s framework for reporting its 
performance.

 — We conclude on the appropriateness of 
the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting by the Board of Trustee and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements and 
the performance information or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Trust to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

 — We evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 

statements and the performance 
information, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements and the 
performance information represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Trustees 
regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit 
Act 2001.

Other Information

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the 
other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the 
Annual Report, but does not include the 
financial statements and the performance 
information, and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the 
performance information does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any 
form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements and the performance information, 

our responsibility is to read the other 
information. In doing so, we consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements and the 
performance information or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on our 
work, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Independence

We are independent of the Trust in accordance 
with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor- General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the independence requirements 
of Professional and Ethical Standard 1: 
International Code of Ethics for Assurance 
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship 
with, or interests in, the Trust.

Sonia Isaac  
KPMG 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement  
of Financial 
Position
For the year ended 30 June 2021
In New Zealand Dollars

Note
2021  

Actual
2021  

Unaudited Forecast
2020  

Actual

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 1,132,667 2,153,000 2,120,232

Collection and artefacts 8 2,338,816 2,339,000 2,338,816

Intangible assets 9 35,711 8,000 63,754

Endowment Fund with Nikau Foundation 12 293,325 - 259,528

Total non-current assets 3,800,519 4,500,000 4,782,330

Inventories 144,604 150,000 195,443

Trade and other receivables 10 845,570 600,000 497,022

Cash and cash equivalents 11 1,737,000 (398,000) 1,553,485

Total current assets 2,727,174 352,000 2,245,950

Total assets 6,527,693 4,852,000 7,028,280

Equity

Reserves 12 2,601,840 2,601,000 2,568,043

Retained earnings 12 1,394,766 641,000 1,877,801

Total equity 3,996,606 3,242,000 4,445,844

Liabilities

Employee benefits 13 42,778 50,000 59,638

Total non-current liabilities 42,778 50,000 59,638

Trade and other payables 14 2,005,169 1,310,000 2,102,046

Employee benefits 13 483,140 250,000 420,752

Total current liabilities 2,488,309 1,560,000 2,522,798

Total liabilities 2,531,087 1,610,000 2,582,436

Total equity and liabilities 6,527,693 4,852,000 7,028,280

Back to Contents

Jane Wrightson 
Board Chair
13th August 2021

Rachel Farrant 
Board Member
13th August 2021
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Note
2021  

Actual
2021  

Unaudited Forecast
2020  

Actual

Revenue 4 14,277,094 12,334,000 13,219,444

Total revenue 14,277,094 12,334,000 13,219,444

Personnel expenses 6 (7,238,212) (6,718,000) (6,823,249)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 7, 9 (477,327) (520,000) (523,225)

Other operating expenses 5 (7,047,297) (6,354,000) (5,948,909)

Total operating expenses (14,762,836) (13,592,000) (13,295,383)

Operating surplus/(deficit) before finance income (485,742) (1,258,000) (75,939)

Finance income 2,707 30,000 24,864

Endowment fund earnings 5,709 3,267

Net finance income 8,416 30,000 28,131

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period (477,326) (1,228,000) (47,808)

Endowment fund revaluation 28,088 - 4,053

Other comprehensive revenue and expense 28,088 4,053

Total comprehensive income for the period (449,238) (1,228,000) (43,755)

Statement of 
Changes in  
Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021
In New Zealand Dollars

Note
2021  

Actual
2021  

Unaudited Forecast
2020  

Actual

Balance at 1 July 2020 12 4,445,844 4,470,000 4,489,599

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the period (477,326) (1,228,000) (43,755)

Total comprehensive income for the period (449,238) (1,228,000) (43,755)

Transferred to Reserve - - -

Balance at 30 June 2021 12 3,996,606 3,242,000 4,445,844

Statement of 
Comprehensive 
Revenue and 
Expense
For the year ended 30 June 2021
In New Zealand Dollars

Back to Contents
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Statement of 
Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021
In New Zealand Dollars

2021  
Actual

2021  
Unaudited Forecast

2020  
Actual

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers 2,214,555 2,534,000 4,147,132

Receipts from related parties 10,914,325 9,670,000 9,563,374

13,128,880 12,204,000 13,710,506

Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees (12,084,138) (11,173,000) (11,346,940)

Payments to related parties (1,542,013) (1,769,000) (1,442,476)

Net GST received/(paid) 152,052 - (34,139)

(13,474,099) (12,942,000) (12,823,555)

Net Cash flows from Operating Activities 17 (345,219) (738,000) 886,951

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest received 2,707 30,000 24,864

Cash was applied to:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (162,713) (520,000) (440,568)

Reimbursement of Work in Progress 683,031 - -

Endowment Fund - - -

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities 523,025 (490,000) (415,704)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

5,709 - -

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 5,709 - -

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 183,515 (1,228,000) 471,247

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,553,485 830,000 1,082,238

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 11 1,737,000 (398,000) 1,553,485

Note

Back to Contents
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Nga Whakamarama Tauaki Putea
Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Reporting Entity The Wellington Museums Trust Incorporated, now trading as Experience Wellington, is a registered charity under the 
Charities Act 2005 and domiciled in New Zealand. It is a Wellington City Council (Council) Controlled Organisation (CCO) in 
terms of the Local Government Act 2002.

The financial statements of Experience Wellington include the activities of the following business units: the Wellington 
Museums Trust; Wellington Museum; City Gallery Wellington; Capital E; Nairn Street Cottage; Cable Car Museum; and Space 
Place at Carter Observatory.

The main activity of Experience Wellington is to manage and develop cultural institutions and to operate them for the benefit 
of the residents of Wellington and the public generally.

The financial statements of Experience Wellington are for the year ended 30 June 2021. The financial statements were 
authorised for issue by the Trustees on 13th August 2021.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 2 Public Benefit Entity Standards. Experience 
Wellington is a public sector entity and is listed in Schedule 2 of the Public Audit Act 2001. The criteria under which 
Experience Wellington is eligible to report in accordance with Tier 2 PBE Standards are that it is not publicly accountable and 
is not large and disclosure concessions have been applied. Certain comparative figures have been represented to correspond 
with current year’s presentation.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for donations into the Endowment Fund which is 
recorded at fair value.

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($).

2. Basis of Preparation 
a. Statement of Compliance and 
Basis of Preparation

b. Basis of Measurement

c. Presentation Currency
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3. Significant Accounting Policies The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are added to the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if 
it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied with the item will flow to Experience Wellington 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in surplus/ (deficit) as an expense as 
incurred.

Depreciation is charged to surplus/ (deficit) using the straight line method. Depreciation is set at rates that will write off the 
cost or fair value of the assets, less their estimated residual values, over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives of major 
classes of assets and resulting rates are as follows:

— Computer & AV equipment 
— Office and equipment  
— Motor vehicles 
— Building Fittings 
— Exhibitions 
— Collections & artefacts 
The residual value of assets is reassessed annually.

Collections are artefacts that are of cultural or historical importance. A substantial amount of the Collections were acquired 
on 29 February 1996 from the Wellington Maritime Museum Trust (WMMT) with others added either as gifts or purchases 
since 1996. Collections are carried at historic cost as assessed at the time of transfer from the WMMT. All subsequent 
acquisitions to the collections are recorded at cost if purchased. Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Where the fair value of the assets is not able 
to be reliably measured, they are recorded at nil. Because the useful life of the collections is indeterminate, they are not 
depreciated.

33% SL 
25% SL 
20% SL 
5%-25% SL 
10% SL 
Not depreciated

a. Property, Plant and 
Equipment

i. Subsequent Costs

ii. Depreciation
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An external valuation of the Collections from an independent valuer is obtained on a periodic basis to ensure that the 
carrying value of the Collections that are held at cost does not exceed their fair value.

The Trustees obtained a valuation during the year to 30 June 2021 and have confirmed that the carrying value at 30 June 
2021 is appropriate and that no impairment has occurred.

Software applications that are acquired by Experience Wellington are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses.

Amortisation is recognised in surplus/ (deficit) on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 
from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as 
follows:

— Computer software  33% SL

Trade and other receivables are measured at their cost less impairment losses.

Inventories (merchandise) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Cost is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing 
them to their existing location and condition.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.

The carrying amounts of Experience Wellington’s assets other than inventories are reviewed at each balance date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets recoverable amount is 
estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service 
amount. The recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

b. Collections and Artefacts  
(cont.)

c. Intangible Assets 
Computer Software

d. Trade and Other Receivables

e. Inventories

f. Cash and Cash Equivalents

g. Impairment
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Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost 
approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature 
of the impairment and availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying 
amount is written-down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. The 
reversal of an impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Experience Wellington’s net obligation in respect of long service leave is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit 
method and is discounted to its present value. The discount rate is the market yield on relevant New Zealand government 
bonds at the Statement of Financial Position date.

A provision is recognised when Experience Wellington has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market rates and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

The trading activities of Experience Wellington are supported by grants and sponsorship. Grants received that have an 
obligation in substance to return the funds if conditions of the grant are not met are initially recognised as a liability and 
revenue is recognised only when the services are performed or conditions fulfilled. Funds that have no such obligation 
attached, and merely a restriction imposed on the use of the funds, are recognised as revenue when they become available.

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date. Income is recognised as the service is provided (e.g. exhibition run). Where exhibitions are not scheduled to run until 
the following fiscal year, revenue is deferred and amortised to income throughout the period of the exhibition.

h. Employee Benefits 
Long Service Leave

i. Provisions

j. Trade and Other Payables

g. Impairment (cont.)

k. Revenue 
i. Funding

ii. Services Provided
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Cash donations from the community are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income at the point at which they 
are receipted into the Trust’s bank account.

Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the 
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of the merchandise, or where there is continuing management 
involvement with the merchandise.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in surplus/ (deficit) on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in surplus/ (deficit) over the lease term as an integral part of the total lease 
expense.

Finance income comprises interest income. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in surplus/ (deficit) using the 
effective interest method.

Endowment Fund 
The Endowment Fund is categorised as a financial asset designated at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and 
expense. After initial recognition, the Endowment Fund is measured at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense, except for impairment losses, which are recognised in the surplus or deficit. When sold, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is transferred to the surplus 
or deficit.

Availability of Future Funding 
Experience Wellington is reliant on the Council for a large part of its income and operates under a Funding Deed with the 
Council. The Funding Deed was for a period of three years and is extended annually for a further year subsequent to the 
initial 3 year term. Funding from the Council has been approved for the year ended 30 June 2022. In addition, due to the 
forecast impact of COVID-19 on future visitation and revenue, the Council have provided a Letter of Comfort regarding 
funding for any shortfall that may arise.

iii. Donations

iv. Sale of Merchandise

l. Expenses 
i. Operating Lease Payments

ii. Finance Income and Expenses
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The Council has agreed to fund $430,494.96 (plus GST) being the current proportion of rental subsidy previously allocated 
to the Capital E building rental, for use by Experience Wellington for Capital E’s interim accommodation.

If Experience Wellington was unable to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, adjustments may have 
to be made to reflect the fact that assets may need to be realised other than at the amounts stated in the balance sheet. In 
addition, Experience Wellington may have to provide for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify property, plant 
and equipment as current assets.

Experience Wellington is registered as a Charitable Trust and is exempt from income tax. Experience Wellington is not 
exempt from indirect tax legislation such as Goods and Services Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, PAYE or ACC and accordingly it is 
required to comply with these regulations.

All amounts are shown exclusive of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except for receivables and payables that are stated 
inclusive of GST.

Forecast Financial Statements are approved by the Board of Trustees and issued as part of the annual Statement of Intent. 
The Forecast Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand 
(NZ GAAP), using accounting policies that are consistent with those used in preparing these Financial Statements. The 
Forecast Financial Statements are not audited. The Forecast for the 2020-21 financial period is included in the Financial 
Statements.

ii. Finance Income and Expenses 
(cont.)

m. Income tax

n. Goods and services tax

o. Statement of Intent Forecast 
Financial Statements
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4. Revenue and Other 
Operating Income

Note 2021 2020 

Revenue from exchange transactions

Retail Sales 539,532 936,845

Admissions income 499,228 528,128

Facility hire 317,619 335,292

Sub-lease income 71,813 40,875

Other income 38,951 51,859

1,467,143 1,892,999

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Wellington City Council operational grant 7,793,789 7,530,880

Wellington City Council rental grant 1,768,980 1,796,098

Wellington City Council underwrite 18 140,986 259,988

Ministry of Education contracts for service 476,971 219,594

Creative New Zealand contracts for service 997,422 254,766

Other grants, sponsorship & donations 903,799 468,477

Wellington City Council – COVID-19 resiliency grant underwrite 728,004 796,642

12,809,951 11,326,445

Total revenue 14,277,094 13,219,444

Back to Contents
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5. Other Operating Expenses 2021 2020 

Cost of sales 434,853 599,746

Exhibitions & programmes 2,820,082 1,696,137

Rent paid 1,870,927 1,871,196

Marketing & promotions 463,906 441,076

Occupancy costs (excluding rent) 592,112 607,003

Other administration expenses 204,689 195,474

Communication costs 105,600 123,821

Trustee fees & expenses 96,000 95,030

Technology costs 226,023 193,254

Professional fees 221,958 61,998

Provision for Bad Debts (27,203) 28,074

Auditors’ remuneration audit fee 38,350 36,100

7,047,297 5,948,909

6. Personnel Expenses 2021 2020 

Wages and salaries 7,238,212 6,823,249

7,238,212 6,823,249

Back to Contents
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7. Property, Plant and 
Equipment

Computer 
equipment

Office & 
equipment

Motor  
vehicles

Building 
fittings

Work in 
Progress

Exhibitions Total

Balance at 30 June 2021

Cost 967,062 1,504,091 23,730 2,501,087 312,816 1,363,906 6,672,692

Accumulated depreciation 879,379 1,490,504 23,730 2,393,119 - 753,293 5,540,025

Carrying value 87,683 13,587 - 107,968 312,816 610,613 1,132,667

Current year depreciation 148,912 16,638 - 143,184 - 137,990 446,724

Balance at 30 June 2020

Cost 948,288 1,501,591 23,730 2,501,087 874,931 1,363,906 7,213,533

Accumulated depreciation 730,467 1,473,866 23,730 2,249,935 - 615,303 5,093,301

Carrying value 217,821 27,725 - 251,152 874,931 748,603 2,120,232

Current year depreciation 187,083 17,864 - 155,124 - 137,991 498,062

The opening Work in progress included both architects and engineering fees relating to the earthquake strengthening of 
the Museum building, being costs incurred on behalf of Wellington City Council (the Council - a related party). These costs, 
which were incurred over the last four years, were fully reimbursed before year end. Current work in progress includes 
$312,816 related to the Wellington Museum new exhibition planned once the building has been earthquake strengthened and 
upgraded. The Council has allocated $21 million in its Long-Term Plan for this project and construction is expected to start in 
early 2023.

Back to Contents
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10. Trade and Other 
Receivables

2021 2020 

Accounts receivable 170,189 289,089

Receivables from related parties 541,706 -

Prepayments 48,558 32,585

GST receivable 85,117 175,348

845,570 497,022

11. Cash and Cash Equivalents 2021 2020 

Bank balances 1,737,000 1,342,586

Bank balances - 210,899

1,737,000 1,553,485

9. Intangible Asset 2021 2020 

Cost 283,500 280,940

Accumulated amortisation 247,789 217,186

Carrying value 35,711 63,754

Current year amortisation 30,603 25,163

8. Collections and Artefacts 2021 2020 

Opening balance 2,338,816 2,338,816

Additions - -

Disposals - -

Closing balance 2,338,816 2,338,816

Back to Contents
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Equity and Reserves cont. 

Capital Reserve

The Capital Reserve was established on 29 February 1996 on the transfer from the Wellington Maritime Museums Trust of 
their collection and artefacts, cash and other sundry office equipment of the Wellington Maritime Museum.

Nairn Street Cottage Reserve (formerly the Colonial Cottage Museum) Collection Reserve

During the year ended 30 June 2003, The Colonial Cottage Friends Society wound up the society and donated the remaining 
funds ($11,948) to the Experience Wellington for the purpose of establishing a collection fund for the Colonial Cottage 
Museum now known as the Nairn Street Cottage. Experience Wellington agreed to transfer this and a similar amount to the 
fund.

Wellington Museum (formerly the Museum of Wellington City & Sea) Collection Reserve

During the year ended 30 June 2005 the Trustees decided to place all donations received from the Poneke History Club 
membership into a collection reserve for future museum acquisitions.

Endowment Fund

In 2019 the Trustees decided to place the proceeds from the Sir Alexander Grant bequest into an endowment fund managed 
by Nikau Foundation. The future return on this fund is to be used to support programming and the development of museum 
and art gallery assets managed by Experience Wellington.

Equity and Reserves 

Reconciliation of Movement in 
Equity and Reserves

Capital 
Reserve

Capital E
Endowment 

 Fund

Nairn Street  
Cottage 

Collection

Wellington  
Museum

Retained  
earnings

Total  
equity

Balance at 1 July 2020 2,122,961 44,630 259,528 23,895 117,029 1,877,801 4,445,844

Surplus/(Deficit) for period - - 5,709 - (483,035) (477,326)

Endowment fund revaluation - - 28,088 - - 28,088

Balance at 30 June 2021 2,122,961 44,630 293,325 23,895 117,029 1,394,766 3,996,606

Balance at 1 July 2019 2,122,961 44,630 252,208 23,895 117,029 1,928,876 4,489,599

Surplus/(Deficit) for period - - 3,267 - (51,075) (47,808)

Endowment fund revaluation - 4,053 - - 4,053

Balance at 30 June 2021 2,122,961 44,630 259,528 23,895 117,029 1,877,801 4,445,844
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Employee Benefits 2021 2020 

Current

Payroll accruals 209,006 162,647

Liability for holiday pay 274,134 258,105

483,140 420,752

Non-current 42,778 59,638

Liability for long-service leave 42,778 59,638

525,918 480,390

12. Trade and Other Payables 2021 2020 

Trade payables 798,300 348,246

Payables to related parties 176,817 126,134

Funds held and Revenue in advance 678,937 1,478,603

ACC premiums 6,307 5,661

GST Payable - -

Restructuring Provision 124,000 -

Non-trade payables and accrued expenses 220,808 143,402

2,005,169 2,102,046

Back to Contents

Operating Leases 
Leases as Lessee

Non-cancellable operating 
lease rentals are payable as 
follows:

2021 2020

Less than one year 1,880,117 1,261,707

Between one and five years 2,241,918 2,480,588

More than five years - -

4,122,035 3,742,295
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15. Reconciliation of Operating 
Surplus to Net Cash Flows 
from Operating Activities

Back to Contents

Experience Wellington holds leases on property, office equipment and motor vehicles.

Two of the property leases are for Council owned buildings, Wellington Museum on Queens Wharf, and City Gallery on Civic 
Square. Under the Funding Deed between Experience Wellington and the Council, rental payable to Council under these 
leases is covered by a rental subsidy.

Since 1 September 2013 Experience Wellington has leased premises for the operation of Capital E and by agreement with 
Council, the cost of these leases is covered by the rental subsidy.

Other property leases are held by Experience Wellington for storage of Collections and the operation of the Executive office.

As at 30 June 2021, there are no capital commitments (2020: $nil), which have not been accounted for.

There are no material contingent liabilities at balance date (2020: $nil).

Operating Leases 
Leases as Lessee (cont.)

13. Capital Commitments

14. Contingencies

2021 2020 

(477,326) (47,808)

Operating Surplus / (Deficit) for the Year

Adjustments:

Add Non-Cash Items: 477,328 523,215

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Movements in Working Capital:

Decrease/(Increase) in Other Current Assets (297,709) 129,861

(Decrease)/Increase in Trade Creditors (34,489) 272,639

(Decrease)/Increase in Accruals and Provisions (4,607) 37,175

Investing Income (8,416) (28,131)

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities (345,219) 886,951
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Experience Wellington is not related to the Council by shareholding. It was established by, and is reliant upon, the Council 
for a large part of its income which indicates sufficient reliance on the Council, by Experience Wellington, for a related party 
relationship to exist. Additionally, the Council consolidates the financial results of Experience Wellington for its own reporting 
purposes.

Experience Wellington operates under a Funding Deed with the Council which requires delivery of services in accordance 
with the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Funding Deed, and the Statement of Intent, agreed with Council on an annual basis.

The Funding Deed was for a period of three years and is extended annually for a further year subsequent to the initial 3-year 
term. The rental grant is paid back to the Council as rent on properties owned by the Council and occupied by Wellington 
Museum and City Gallery Wellington.

In the case of Capital E which no longer occupies a Council owned building the rental grant is used to meet Capital E’s 
accommodation costs.

Experience Wellington purchased accounting services during the year totalling $nil (2019: $8,952) from an accounting firm of 
which a trustee is a partner.

16. Related parties 
i. Identity of related parties

ii. Related party transactions

During the year, Experience 
Wellington entered related 
party transactions of the 
following nature:

Transaction value year ended Balance outstanding as at 30 June

2021 2020 2021 2020

Receipts

Wellington City Council - operational grant 7,793,789 7,530,880 - -

Wellington City Council - rental grant 1,768,980 1,796,098 - -

Wellington City Council – Covid-19 resiliency grant underwrite 728,004 - 394,129 -

Wellington City Council - underwrite 140,986 - 146,309 -

Wellington City Council - miscellaneous 1,024,272 236,396 1,267 -

Total 11,456,031 9,563,374 541,706 -

Payments

Wellington City Council - rental 1,338,485 1,338,485 128,271 -

Wellington City Council - miscellaneous 254,211 103,991 48,545 126,134

Total 1,592,696 1,442,476 176,817 126,134

During the year $5,323 less was received than 
accrued in relation to the prior financial year 
(2019-20) underwrite for Space Place.

Back to Contents
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iii. Remuneration of key 
management personnel

Executive officers’ remuneration 
is included in “personnel” 
expenses (see note 6).

2021 2020 

Trustees 96,000 95,030

Executive officers 1,051,214 933,950

1,147,214 1,028,980

Back to Contents

Experience Wellington governs manages and controls Space Place at Carter Observatory for Council under a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) as if it were an institution under the Trust Deed but subject to and with the benefit of the MOU. 
Under this agreement the Council has agreed to reimburse Experience Wellington for any deficit incurred through  
the operations of Space Place. Therefore, Experience Wellington has recognised the operations of Space Place in the 
financial statements.

There have been no significant events after balance date that have affected the accuracy of these financial statements.

17. Space Place at  
Carter Observatory 

18. Subsequent Event

7878 Experience Wellington 20/21    |    Whakauka Pakihi  Business Sustainability 



Fundraising, Marketing and Communications 
Level 8, AMI Plaza, 342 Lambton Quay  
 

City Gallery Wellington  
Te Whare Toi

Te Ngākau Civic Square 
101 Wakefield Street 
PO Box 893, Wellington 
P: 04 913 9032 
E: citygallery@experiencewellington.org.nz 

citygallery.org.nz

Capital E  
Nōku te Ao

4 Queens Wharf 
PO Box 893, Wellington 
P: 04 913 3740 
E: capitale@experiencewellington.org.nz 

capitale.org.nz

 

New Zealand Cricket Museum  
Ngā Taonga Kirikiti

The Old Grandstand, Basin Reserve 
PO Box 578, Wellington 
P: 04 385 6602 
E: cricket@experiencewellington.org.nz

nzcricketmuseum.co.nz 

Note: The New Zealand Cricket Museum is currently closed.

Wellington Museum  
Te Waka Huia o Ngā Taonga Tuku Iho

The Bond Store, Queens Wharf 
PO Box 893, Wellington 
P: 04 472 8904  
E: museumswellington@experiencewellington.org.nz

museumswellington.org.nz/wellington-museum

Space Place  
Te Ara Whānui Ki Te Rangi

Botanic Gardens 
PO Box 893, Wellington    
P: 04 910 3140 
E: spaceplace@experiencewellington.org.nz 

museumswellington.org.nz/space-place 

Cable Car Museum

1 Upland Road 
PO Box 893, Wellington 
P: 04 475 3578 
E: cablecar@experiencewellington.org.nz

museumswellington.org.nz/cable-car-museum

Nairn Street Cottage

68 Nairn Street 
PO Box 893, Wellington 
P: 04 384 9122 
E: cottage@experiencewellington.org.nz 

museumswellington.org.nz/nairn-street-cottage

Plimmer’s Ark Galleries

Old Bank Arcade (timbers in situ)

Te Papatohu
Directory

Executive Office 
Level 4, 276 Lambton Quay  
PO Box 893, Wellington 
P: 04 471 0919 

experiencewellington.org.nz  
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